

The Role of the Bone Marrow for Adaptive **10** Immunity in Old Age

Beatrix Grubeck-Loebenstein and Luca Pangrazzi

Contents

Introduction	260
The Bone Marrow (BM) and Immunological Memory: Physiology	260
The BM Regulates the Survival of Memory T Cells and Plasma Cells (PCs)	260
CD4 ⁺ Memory T Cell Niches in the BM	260
The Role of the BM for CD8 ⁺ T Cell Survival	261
Plasma Cell (PC) Niche in the BM	262
The BM and Immunological Memory in Old Age	263
The Impact of Aging on BM T Cells	263
The Impact of Aging on BM PCs	264
The Impact of Aging on BM Niches for Adaptive Immune Cells	264
Accumulation of CD8 ⁺ CD28 ⁻ T Cells in the BM in Old Age	265
Competition for Immunological Space in the Aged BM: A Hypothesis	266
Conclusions and Future Directions	266
Cross-References	267
References	267

Abstract

Most studies on age-related changes of the human adaptive immune system have so far been performed using peripheral blood which contains less than 2% of the total body lymphocyte pool. Only few studies have addressed this issue in lymphatic organs. The human BM represents an organ which has only recently been recognized as an important site for the regulation and maintenance of immunological memory. Intrinsic changes in adaptive immune cells as well as changes in BM niches may be of relevance for changes in the immunological memory in old age. It is the goal of this review to summarize what is known about the effect of age on BM immune cells and their niches in mice and humans.

B. Grubeck-Loebenstein (🖂) · L. Pangrazzi

Institute for Biomedical Aging Research, University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria e-mail: beatrix.grubeck@uibk.ac.at; Luca.Pangrazzi@uibk.ac.at

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

T. Fulop et al. (eds.), *Handbook of Immunosenescence*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-99375-1 170

Keywords

Bone marrow · Aging · Immunosenescence · T cells · Plasma cells

Introduction

Antigen-specific memory cells generated during immune responses need to be maintained for a long time in an antigen-independent manner. Survival of memory T cells and long-lived plasma cells can be supported by cytokine/chemokine-producing cells located in the bone marrow (BM). Understanding how survival factors can maintain memory cells even for decades may be of interest to counteract the impairments in the adaptive immunity described in old age.

The Bone Marrow (BM) and Immunological Memory: Physiology

The BM Regulates the Survival of Memory T Cells and Plasma Cells (PCs)

After antigens (Ags) have been cleared from the body, some of the newly generated adaptive cells are maintained for long periods of time in the BM. In case of infections with the same Ags, these memory cells provide rapid protection. Maintenance of memory lymphocytes has been shown to depend on cytokines, molecules fundamental for the survival of immunological memory, since the blockade or removal of certain cytokines leads to the elimination of established memory cells (Schluns and Lefrancois 2003). The production of these molecules is particularly high in tissues which offer a proper environment for the long-term maintenance of adaptive immune cells. Recently, a key role in memory T cell homing and survival has been attributed to the BM, which has been shown to produce high amounts of T cell and plasma cell survival factors (Tokoyoda et al. 2010). It has been reported that this organ is important for the maintenance of immunological memory mediated by cytokine/chemokine-producing cells. Specific areas rich in these molecules known as niches are believed to support the homeostatic proliferation of memory cells, maintaining their pool for a long time after the clearance of the Ags.

CD4⁺ Memory T Cell Niches in the BM

The BM is well understood to play a key role in $CD4^+$ memory (helper) T cell homing and survival in mice. A major proportion of Ag-specific memory $CD4^+$ T cells relocates to the BM within 3–8 weeks after their generation and is maintained there for a long time in distinct survival niches (Tokoyoda et al. 2009). Interleukin (IL)-7 has been described to promote the transition from short-lived to long-lived $CD4^+$ T cells and has been indicated as survival factor for long-lived CD4⁺ memory T cells (Li et al. 2003). In the BM, memory CD4⁺ T cells are maintained in niches organized by IL-7⁺ stromal cells which are characterized by the expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) and collagen XI (Hanazawa et al. 2013; Tokoyoda et al. 2009). CD69 expressed on CD4⁺ memory T cell precursors is necessary for the rolling of these cells on BM sinusoids. After this first step of weak adhesion, the transmigration of effector cells into the BM through the sinusoidal endothelia is possible thanks to CD49b (integrin α 2), a collagen receptor subunit which guides the cell migration in the direction of the niches with the binding to collagen II and finally to collagen XI, expressed by IL-7⁺ stromal cells. CD4⁺ memory T cells can therefore find an environment rich in their most important survival factors where they can be maintained for long periods of time. In addition to IL-7, IL-15 may also play a role for CD4⁺ memory T cells in the human BM, since interactions between CD4⁺ T cells and IL-15⁺ cells have been documented (Herndler-Brandstetter et al. 2011).

The Role of the BM for CD8⁺ T Cell Survival

Maintenance of effector/memory CD8⁺ (cytotoxic) T cells requires both IL-7 and IL-15 (Mcleod et al. 2012). IL-7 produced by BM stromal cells binds to the IL-7R α expressed on CD8⁺ memory T cells. In addition, myeloid and stromal cells produce and transpresent IL-15 to the IL-15R α on CD8⁺ effector/memory T cells, which also highly express the common IL-2/IL-15R β and γ chains (Di Rosa 2009). IL-7 and IL-15 may synergize, giving rise to a survival and/or proliferation signal which is effective only when both cytokines are produced. While IL-15 is mainly considered a T cell proliferation factor, generation and maintenance of memory T cells depend on IL7R α signaling (Osborne et al. 2007). After the effector phase of an immune response, most CD8⁺ effector cells die and only few memory CD8⁺ T cells survive, being available in case of reinfections. During this phase, two subsets of effector CD8⁺ T cells can be identified: Memory precursor effector cells (MPECs), committed to the differentiation into long-lived memory CD8⁺ T cells, and short-lived effector cells (SLECs) which die shortly after antigenic clearance (Joshi et al. 2007). While MPECs express high levels of IL-7R α after acute infection, SLECs downregulate the receptor and overexpress the senescence markers killer cell lectinlike receptor subfamily G member 1 (KLRG-1) and CD57 (Kaech et al. 2003; Schluns et al. 2000). IL-15 can rescue IL-7R α^{lo} KLRG-1⁺ SLECs for a short time, but does not guarantee their long-term survival, which would require IL-7R signaling (Joshi et al. 2007).

IL-15 is produced at high concentrations in the BM (Herndler-Brandstetter et al. 2011; Herndler-Brandstetter et al. 2012). IL-15-expressing cells can be found throughout the entire organ, particularly around small blood vessels (Cui et al. 2014). The highest IL-15 expression was found in VCAM-1⁺ reticular stromal cells. Interestingly, many of these IL-15⁺ VCAM-1⁺ cells also express IL-7. IL-15 is additionally known to be produced by various myeloid cell types, such as dendritic

cells, monocytes, and macrophages (Mortier et al. 2009; Musso et al. 1999; Stonier et al. 2008). Furthermore, the bioavailability of IL-15 is higher in the BM compared to other lymphatic organs such as the spleen or lymph nodes (Snell et al. 2012). This suggests that MPECs may be recruited to the BM, where they bind to IL-7 produced by stromal cells and differentiate into long-lived memory CD8⁺ T cells. Memory cell proliferative renewal may also require IL-15, although a recent report indicates that this cytokine is mostly needed for the preservation of short-lived cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells and not for the long-term memory maintenance (Li et al. 2015). SLECs also enter the BM, where they may survive for a short time in close proximity to IL-15-producing cells.

In accordance with high IL-15 production, the IL-15-inducible molecules B cell lymphoma-extra large (Bcl-x(L)), macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 α , MIP-1 β , and C-C chemokine receptor type 5 (CCR5) are upregulated in the human BM (Herndler-Brandstetter et al. 2011).

The impact of IL-15 and IL-6 on the activation, proliferation, and differentiation of human $CD8^+$ T cells from peripheral blood (PB) in vitro has also been studied (Herndler-Brandstetter et al. 2012). In combination with IL-15, IL-6 significantly increased the percentage of $CD69^+CD8^+$ T cells. This increase of $CD8^+$ T cell activation was accompanied by an increased number of proliferating $CD8^+$ T cells by IL-15 and IL-6 compared with IL-15 alone. In contrast, only few $CD4^+$ T cells were activated and proliferated following stimulation with IL-15 and IL-6 or IL-15 alone. The stimulation with IL-15, and IL-15 in combination with IL-6, also led to a significant downregulation of CD28 on proliferating $CD8^+$ T cells.

Plasma Cell (PC) Niche in the BM

Multiple cell types have been described to contribute to the organization of the PC niche in the mouse BM. Long-lived PCs are attracted to, and retained in a niche defined by the C-X-C motif chemokine 12 (CXCL12; SDF-1), expressed mainly by CXCL12-abundant reticular (CAR) stromal cells, a cell population also positive for the marker VCAM-1. The majority of PCs were found in close and stable contact with reticular stromal cells and were sessile in their position (Fooksman et al. 2010). CXCL-12 binds to its receptor CXCR4 expressed by PCs and by many other cell types. Binding of CXCL-12 to its receptor triggers the recruitment of cells producing PC survival factors (Chu and Berek 2013). The survival of PCs in the BM is stimulated by a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL) and IL-6. Both factors are mainly produced by cells of hematopoietic origin like granulocytes, in particular eosinophils, megakaryocytes, and monocytes (Belnoue et al. 2012; Huard et al. 2008; Winter et al. 2010). Neutralization of both survival cytokines in vivo depletes Ag-specific PCs in the BM, whereas the presence of one of them is sufficient to sustain the PC population in the murine system (Huard et al. 2008). In humans, neutrophils are believed to be important for the production of APRIL in the BM (Benson et al. 2008). Interestingly, it has recently been suggested that long-lived human PCs do not necessarily express the classical B cell marker CD19 (Halliley et al. 2015).

CD19⁻ CD38^{hi} CD138⁺ cells were the only population of cells secreting Abs specific for measles and mumps virus more than 40 years after infection.

The BM and Immunological Memory in Old Age

Although solid data on age-related changes of BM memory cells has recently emerged for the human system, relatively little is still known on murine memory cells in the BM in old age. This review will therefore focus on human data and refer to murine results as far as is available.

The Impact of Aging on BM T Cells

The number of helper (CD4) and cytotoxic (CD8) T cells in the BM is not altered between young and elderly persons. However, although the overall numbers of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells in the BM do not change with age, it has been demonstrated in the PB that aging alters the composition of the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell repertoire (Effros et al. 2003; Hong et al. 2004; Kovaiou and Grubeck-Loebenstein 2006). Similar to the situation in the periphery, CD4⁺ naïve T cells decline while effector memory T (T_{EMRA}) cells are not increased in the BM. CD8⁺ naïve T cells also decline, but CD8⁺ T_{EMRA} cells increase with age. The BM contains fewer naïve T cells and more T_{EM} cells than the PB (Herndler-Brandstetter et al. 2011; Palendira et al. 2008).

As the loss of CD28 and the acquisition of CD57 have been associated with CD8⁺ T cell aging in the PB (Brenchley et al. 2003; Effros et al. 2005; Focosi et al. 2010), the percentages of CD8⁺CD28⁻ and CD8⁺CD57⁺ T cells have also been analyzed in the BM of young and elderly persons (Herndler-Brandstetter et al. 2012). As in the PB, CD8⁺CD28⁻ T cells were increased during aging in the BM. CD8⁺CD57⁺ T cells which characteristically also lack CD28 can increase in the PB in old age to almost 50% of CD8⁺ T cells, while in the BM only 14% of CD8⁺ T cells were CD57⁺ in elderly persons. The high percentage of CD8⁺CD28⁻ T cells may be due to the fact that the BM has been shown to be a preferred site of IL-15-driven activation and proliferation of memory CD8⁺ T cells in human and mice (Becker et al. 2005; Herndler-Brandstetter et al. 2011).

The analysis of $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells regarding their production of interferon (IFN)- γ , tumor necrosis factor (TNF), and IL-2 following stimulation with phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) revealed that a higher number of polyfunctional $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells resided in the BM compared with the PB (Herndler-Brandstetter et al. 2011). Interestingly, the high percentage of polyfunctional memory $CD4^+$ and $CD8^+$ T cells in the human BM was maintained during aging (Herndler-Brandstetter et al. 2012). BM-resident $CD8^+$ T cells also express CD107a, indicating intact cytotoxicity. These data suggest that age-dependent changes of the BM microenvironment do not impair the life-long maintenance of polyfunctional memory T cells and Ag-mediated T cell cytotoxicity in the BM.

The Impact of Aging on BM PCs

Pritz et al. recently demonstrated that the proportions of PCs and memory B cells were significantly lower in both the bone marrow mononuclear cells (BMMCs) and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from elderly persons compared to young persons, whereas no significant difference could be seen with age for the immature or naïve B cells (Pritz et al. 2015). This may be due to defects in the Th system and weaker germinal center responses, as suggested by studies in old mice (Han et al. 2003; Zhang et al. 2014).

Similar findings in elderly persons have been reported by some groups (Breitbart et al. 2002; Chong et al. 2005; Frasca et al. 2008; Shi et al. 2005), while others have shown the opposite (Colonna-Romano et al. 2003; Veneri et al. 2009). This discrepancy may be explained by variations in age groups or cohort sizes or by the use of different analysis techniques. In contrast, most studies in mice agree that a decrease of newly generated B cells is accompanied by an increase of antigen-experienced cells in old age [reviewed in (Kogut et al. 2012; Miller and Cancro 2007)]. In both species, our knowledge on the specificity of BM PCs is still poor, not to mention potential age-related changes. In humans, the frequency of tetanus- and diphtheria-specific PCs in the BM was seen to decrease with age, whereas no age-related changes were seen for influenza A- or cytomegalovirus (CMV)-specific BM PCs (Pritz et al. 2015). BM PCs can generate persistent high affinity Abs and are therefore very important in providing long-lasting immune protection, specifically in old age (Hofer et al. 2006). In the cases of tetanus-, diphtheria-, and influenza A-specific PCs, a positive correlation could be seen between BM PCs and peripheral Ag-specific IgG Abs of the same specificity. However, no correlations were seen for CMV-specific PCs/Abs. This indicates that immune responses to CMV reactivation and the production of Abs are predominantly maintained by other lymphoid organs.

As no correlation with age was seen for influenza- and CMV-specific BM PCs, it can be assumed that certain Ag-specific PCs are unaffected by age, and that recruitment of PCs in the elderly is still possible. However, little is known about the functional properties of these later generated PCs, and how they would compare with PCs generated in early childhood such as during measles or mumps infection, which can induce a life-long immunity (Amanna et al. 2007). Reduced Ab avidity in old age has been discussed (De Bruijn et al. 1999; Kolibab et al. 2005), but seems unlikely in view of numerous reports on unimpaired Ab functionality in old age (Sasaki et al. 2011; Stiasny et al. 2012).

The Impact of Aging on BM Niches for Adaptive Immune Cells

A crucial question for the aging of immunological memory is whether intrinsic age-related changes of immune cells, of their niches, or both, are the main culprits. Therefore, age-related changes of BM niches for adaptive immune cells in human

tissues were recently analyzed (Pangrazzi et al. 2017). For this purpose, the expression of effector/memory cell survival factors in BMMCs from 65 donors of different age was studied at the mRNA level, and it was demonstrated that IL-15 and IL-6 mRNA increase with age, while the expression of IL-7 and APRIL decreases. No age-related changes were observed for the chemokine CXCL-12, with great deviations at all ages. Flow cytometry experiments confirmed the results described for mRNA at the protein level. These results indicate that the expression of molecules important for the long-term maintenance of effector/memory T cells and long-lived PCs in the BM changes during aging. It was of interest that pro-inflammatory molecules accumulated in the BM in old age inducing a basal level of inflammation in accordance with the concept of "inflamm-aging" (Franceschi et al. 2000). Thus, in addition to IL-15 and IL-6, the mRNA expression of IFN-y and TNF was increased in BMMCs in old age. Aging per se as well as pro-inflammatory molecules have been shown to influence reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels, contributing to oxidative stress (Chougnet et al. 2015; Mittal et al. 2014). In accordance with these observations, high ROS levels were found in the BM of old persons, which may contribute to further IL-15 production.

Accumulation of CD8⁺CD28⁻ T Cells in the BM in Old Age

A recent study indicates that regulatory T cells (Tregs) for which the BM is a reservoir (Zou et al. 2004) control CD8⁺ T cell quiescence, memory function, and longevity during antigenic clearance, through the cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4)-CD28-B7 axis (Kalia et al. 2015). In particular, Tregs may be important for the suppression of CD8⁺ T cell effector programs, promoting the persistence of CD127^{hi} KLRG-1^{lo} MPECs and the generation of long-lasting memory cells by inhibiting the terminal differentiation into CD127^{lo} KLRG-1^{hi} SLECs. In this process, the expression of the costimulatory molecule CD28 on CD8⁺ T cells is required.

High numbers of CD8⁺CD28⁻ T cells are a hallmark of aging and can be detrimental, since their accumulation has been linked to impaired responsiveness to vaccination, high inflammation levels, and increased risk of mortality (Effros et al. 1994; Fagnoni et al. 1996; Posnett et al. 1994). CD8⁺CD28⁻ T cells are also pro-inflammatory, as they produce large amounts of type 1 cytokines (Almanzar et al. 2005; Saurwein-Teissl et al. 2002; Zanni et al. 2003). Interestingly, it has been described that apoptosis of CD8⁺CD28⁻ T cells could be successfully prevented by IL-15, suggesting that this cytokine may play a role in the survival and the age-related accumulation of CD8⁺CD28⁻ T cells in humans (Brunner et al. 2012). Given that IL-15 is produced at high concentrations in the BM (Herndler-Brandstetter et al. 2012; Pangrazzi et al. 2017), the aged BM may offer the right environment to promote the maintenance of Ag-experienced CD8⁺ T cells and, particularly, of potentially harmful exhausted T cells.



Fig. 1 Schematic illustration of BM niches. (a) Distinct niches within the murine BM hosting different types of Ag-experienced immune cells have been suggested. Long-lived PCs are in close contact to $CXCL12^+IL-7^-VCAM-1^+$ stromal cells, whereas $CXCL12^-IL-7^+VCAM-1^+$ cells support the survival of memory $CD4^+T$ cells (Tokoyoda et al. 2010). (b) A modification of this concept was proposed, namely that an IL-15-producing BM niche housing memory $CD8^+T$ cells exists and that an age-related increase in size of the IL-15 niche as well as the number of $CD8^+T$ cells result in displacement and/or functional impairment of the other niches

Competition for Immunological Space in the Aged BM: A Hypothesis

Elderly people have a lower cellularity and therefore there is less BM available for supporting adaptive immune cells. For this reason, immunological space required for the maintenance of memory T cells and PCs in the BM may be restricted, particularly in old age. As it is now clear that the expression of pro-inflammatory molecules like IL-6, IL-15, TNF, and IFN γ increases in the human BM in old age, it can be hypothesized that the aged BM niche environment may directly support the accumulation of highly differentiated CD8⁺CD28⁻ T cells. They may occupy space normally needed for other cells such as memory CD4⁺ T cells and PCs (Fig. 1). As stromal cells also produce less IL-7 in old age, the maintenance of IL7R α^+ memory T cells can be affected, leading to impaired B cell responses, low PC counts, and decreased Ab production after infection and/or vaccination.

Conclusions and Future Directions

In conclusion, the BM should be considered as an important organ for the maintenance of immunological memory in old age. Changes in BM niches combined with intrinsic changes of immune cells may be of relevance for future studies.

Cross-References

- ▶ Age, T Cell Homeostasis, and T Cell Diversity in Humans
- Cytokine Expression and Production Changes in Very Old Age
- Diversity of CD28^{null} T Cells in the Elderly: A Glimpse in a Biological Adaptation of Aging
- ► Inflammaging
- Older Human B Cells and Antibodies

References

- Almanzar G, Schwaiger S, Jenewein B et al (2005) Long-term cytomegalovirus infection leads to significant changes in the composition of the CD8⁺ T-cell repertoire, which may be the basis for an imbalance in the cytokine production profile in elderly persons. J Virol 79:3675–3683
- Amanna IJ, Carlson NE, Slifka MK (2007) Duration of humoral immunity to common viral and vaccine antigens. N Engl J Med 357:1903–1915
- Becker TC, Coley SM, Wherry EJ et al (2005) Bone marrow is a preferred site for homeostatic proliferation of memory CD8 T cells. J Immunol 174:1269–1273
- Belnoue E, Tougne C, Rochat AF et al (2012) Homing and adhesion patterns determine the cellular composition of the bone marrow plasma cell niche. J Immunol 188:1283–1291
- Benson MJ, Dillon SR, Castigli E et al (2008) Cutting edge: the dependence of plasma cells and independence of memory B cells on BAFF and APRIL. J Immunol 180:3655–3659
- Breitbart E, Wang X, Leka LS et al (2002) Altered memory B-cell homeostasis in human aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 57:B304–B311
- Brenchley JM, Karandikar NJ, Betts MR et al (2003) Expression of CD57 defines replicative senescence and antigen-induced apoptotic death of CD8⁺ T cells. Blood 101:2711–2720
- Brunner S, Herndler-Brandstetter D, Arnold CR et al (2012) Upregulation of miR-24 is associated with a decreased DNA damage response upon etoposide treatment in highly differentiated CD8(+) T cells sensitizing them to apoptotic cell death. Aging Cell 11:579–587
- Chong Y, Ikematsu H, Yamaji K et al (2005) CD27(+) (memory) B cell decrease and apoptosisresistant CD27(-) (naive) B cell increase in aged humans: implications for age-related peripheral B cell developmental disturbances. Int Immunol 17:383–390
- Chougnet CA, Thacker RI, Shehata HM et al (2015) Loss of phagocytic and antigen crosspresenting capacity in aging dendritic cells is associated with mitochondrial dysfunction. J Immunol 195:2624–2632
- Chu VT, Berek C (2013) The establishment of the plasma cell survival niche in the bone marrow. Immunol Rev 251:177–188
- Colonna-Romano G, Bulati M, Aquino A et al (2003) B cells in the aged: CD27, CD5, and CD40 expression. Mech Ageing Dev 124:389–393
- Cui G, Hara T, Simmons S et al (2014) Characterization of the IL-15 niche in primary and secondary lymphoid organs in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:1915–1920
- De Bruijn IA, Remarque EJ, Jol-Van Der Zijde CM et al (1999) Quality and quantity of the humoral immune response in healthy elderly and young subjects after annually repeated influenza vaccination. J Infect Dis 179:31–36
- Di Rosa F (2009) T-lymphocyte interaction with stromal, bone and hematopoietic cells in the bone marrow. Immunol Cell Biol 87:20–29
- Effros RB, Boucher N, Porter V et al (1994) Decline in CD28⁺ T cells in centenarians and in longterm T cell cultures: a possible cause for both in vivo and in vitro immunosenescence. Exp Gerontol 29:601–609

Effros RB, Cai Z, Linton PJ (2003) CD8 T cells and aging. Crit Rev Immunol 23:45-64

- Effros RB, Dagarag M, Spaulding C et al (2005) The role of CD8⁺ T-cell replicative senescence in human aging. Immunol Rev 205:147–157
- Fagnoni FF, Vescovini R, Mazzola M et al (1996) Expansion of cytotoxic CD8⁺ CD28⁻ T cells in healthy ageing people, including centenarians. Immunology 88:501–507
- Focosi D, Bestagno M, Burrone O et al (2010) CD57⁺ T lymphocytes and functional immune deficiency. J Leukoc Biol 87:107–116
- Fooksman DR, Schwickert TA, Victora GD et al (2010) Development and migration of plasma cells in the mouse lymph node. Immunity 33:118–127
- Franceschi C, Bonafe M, Valensin S et al (2000) Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann N Y Acad Sci 908:244–254
- Frasca D, Landin AM, Lechner SC et al (2008) Aging down-regulates the transcription factor E2A, activation-induced cytidine deaminase, and Ig class switch in human B cells. J Immunol 180:5283–5290
- Halliley JL, Tipton CM, Liesveld J et al (2015) Long-lived plasma cells are contained within the CD19(-)CD38(hi)CD138(+) subset in human bone marrow. Immunity 43:132–145
- Han S, Yang K, Ozen Z et al (2003) Enhanced differentiation of splenic plasma cells but diminished long-lived high-affinity bone marrow plasma cells in aged mice. J Immunol 170:1267–1273
- Hanazawa A, Hayashizaki K, Shinoda K et al (2013) CD49b-dependent establishment of T helper cell memory. Immunol Cell Biol 91:524–531
- Herndler-Brandstetter D, Landgraf K, Jenewein B et al (2011) Human bone marrow hosts polyfunctional memory CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells with close contact to IL-15-producing cells. J Immunol 186:6965–6971
- Herndler-Brandstetter D, Landgraf K, Tzankov A et al (2012) The impact of aging on memory T cell phenotype and function in the human bone marrow. J Leukoc Biol 91:197–205
- Hofer T, Muehlinghaus G, Moser K et al (2006) Adaptation of humoral memory. Immunol Rev 211:295–302
- Hong MS, Dan JM, Choi JY et al (2004) Age-associated changes in the frequency of naive, memory and effector CD8⁺ T cells. Mech Ageing Dev 125:615–618
- Huard B, Mckee T, Bosshard C et al (2008) APRIL secreted by neutrophils binds to heparan sulfate proteoglycans to create plasma cell niches in human mucosa. J Clin Invest 118:2887–2895
- Joshi NS, Cui W, Chandele A et al (2007) Inflammation directs memory precursor and short-lived effector CD8(+) T cell fates via the graded expression of T-bet transcription factor. Immunity 27:281–295
- Kaech SM, Tan JT, Wherry EJ et al (2003) Selective expression of the interleukin 7 receptor identifies effector CD8 T cells that give rise to long-lived memory cells. Nat Immunol 4:1191–1198
- Kalia V, Penny LA, Yuzefpolskiy Y et al (2015) Quiescence of memory CD8(+) T cells is mediated by regulatory T cells through inhibitory receptor CTLA-4. Immunity 42:1116–1129
- Kogut I, Scholz JL, Cancro MP et al (2012) B cell maintenance and function in aging. Semin Immunol 24:342–349
- Kolibab K, Smithson SL, Shriner AK et al (2005) Immune response to pneumococcal polysaccharides 4 and 14 in elderly and young adults. I. Antibody concentrations, avidity and functional activity. Immun Ageing 2:10
- Kovaiou RD, Grubeck-Loebenstein B (2006) Age-associated changes within CD4⁺ T cells. Immunol Lett 107:8–14
- Li J, Huston G, Swain SL (2003) IL-7 promotes the transition of CD4 effectors to persistent memory cells. J Exp Med 198:1807–1815
- Li J, Valentin A, Ng S et al (2015) Differential effects of IL-15 on the generation, maintenance and cytotoxic potential of adaptive cellular responses induced by DNA vaccination. Vaccine 33:1188–1196
- Mcleod IX, Jia W, He YW (2012) The contribution of autophagy to lymphocyte survival and homeostasis. Immunol Rev 249:195–204
- Miller JP, Cancro MP (2007) B cells and aging: balancing the homeostatic equation. Exp Gerontol 42:396–399

- Mittal M, Siddiqui MR, Tran K et al (2014) Reactive oxygen species in inflammation and tissue injury. Antioxid Redox Signal 20:1126–1167
- Mortier E, Advincula R, Kim L et al (2009) Macrophage- and dendritic-cell-derived interleukin-15 receptor alpha supports homeostasis of distinct CD8⁺ T cell subsets. Immunity 31:811–822
- Musso T, Calosso L, Zucca M et al (1999) Human monocytes constitutively express membranebound, biologically active, and interferon-gamma-upregulated interleukin-15. Blood 93:3531–3539
- Osborne LC, Dhanji S, Snow JW et al (2007) Impaired CD8 T cell memory and CD4 T cell primary responses in IL-7R alpha mutant mice. J Exp Med 204:619–631
- Palendira U, Chinn R, Raza W et al (2008) Selective accumulation of virus-specific CD8⁺ T cells with unique homing phenotype within the human bone marrow. Blood 112:3293–3302
- Pangrazzi L, Meryk A, Naismith E et al (2017) "Inflamm-aging" influences immune cell survival factors in human bone marrow. Eur J Immunol 47:481–492
- Posnett DN, Sinha R, Kabak S et al (1994) Clonal populations of T cells in normal elderly humans: the T cell equivalent to "benign monoclonal gammapathy". J Exp Med 179:609–618
- Pritz T, Lair J, Ban M et al (2015) Plasma cell numbers decrease in bone marrow of old patients. Eur J Immunol 45:738–746
- Sasaki S, Sullivan M, Narvaez CF et al (2011) Limited efficacy of inactivated influenza vaccine in elderly individuals is associated with decreased production of vaccine-specific antibodies. J Clin Invest 121:3109–3119
- Saurwein-Teissl M, Lung TL, Marx F et al (2002) Lack of antibody production following immunization in old age: association with CD8(+)CD28(-) T cell clonal expansions and an imbalance in the production of Th1 and Th2 cytokines. J Immunol 168:5893–5899
- Schluns KS, Kieper WC, Jameson SC et al (2000) Interleukin-7 mediates the homeostasis of naive and memory CD8 T cells in vivo. Nat Immunol 1:426–432
- Schluns KS, Lefrancois L (2003) Cytokine control of memory T-cell development and survival. Nat Rev Immunol 3:269–279
- Shi Y, Yamazaki T, Okubo Y et al (2005) Regulation of aged humoral immune defense against pneumococcal bacteria by IgM memory B cell. J Immunol 175:3262–3267
- Snell LM, Lin GH, Watts TH (2012) IL-15-dependent upregulation of GITR on CD8 memory phenotype T cells in the bone marrow relative to spleen and lymph node suggests the bone marrow as a site of superior bioavailability of IL-15. J Immunol 188:5915–5923
- Stiasny K, Aberle JH, Keller M et al (2012) Age affects quantity but not quality of antibody responses after vaccination with an inactivated flavivirus vaccine against tick-borne encephalitis. PLoS One 7:e34145
- Stonier SW, Ma LJ, Castillo EF et al (2008) Dendritic cells drive memory CD8 T-cell homeostasis via IL-15 transpresentation. Blood 112:4546–4554
- Tokoyoda K, Zehentmeier S, Hegazy AN et al (2009) Professional memory CD4⁺ T lymphocytes preferentially reside and rest in the bone marrow. Immunity 30:721–730
- Tokoyoda K, Hauser AE, Nakayama T et al (2010) Organization of immunological memory by bone marrow stroma. Nat Rev Immunol 10:193–200
- Veneri D, Ortolani R, Franchini M et al (2009) Expression of CD27 and CD23 on peripheral blood B lymphocytes in humans of different ages. Blood Transfus 7:29–34
- Winter O, Moser K, Mohr E et al (2010) Megakaryocytes constitute a functional component of a plasma cell niche in the bone marrow. Blood 116:1867–1875
- Zanni F, Vescovini R, Biasini C et al (2003) Marked increase with age of type 1 cytokines within memory and effector/cytotoxic CD8⁺ T cells in humans: a contribution to understand the relationship between inflammation and immunosenescence. Exp Gerontol 38:981–987
- Zhang W, Brahmakshatriya V, Swain SL (2014) CD4 T cell defects in the aged: causes, consequences and strategies to circumvent. Exp Gerontol 54:67–70
- Zou L, Barnett B, Safah H et al (2004) Bone marrow is a reservoir for CD4⁺CD25⁺ regulatory T cells that traffic through CXCL12/CXCR4 signals. Cancer Res 64:8451–8455